**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
CASE NO. SC09-2417**

WILLIAM K. TAYLOR,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

**ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF
FLORIDA**

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mark S. Gruber
Florida Bar No. 0330541
Maria Perinetti
Florida Bar No. 0013837
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
813-740-3544
Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of the circuit court's denial of William K. Taylor's motion for postconviction relief brought pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The episode from which this case arose occurred on the night of Friday, May 25, 2001. *Taylor v. State*, 937 So. 2d 590, 593 (Fla. 2006). The incident was reported the next day, and a subsequent investigation led to the arrest of William K. Taylor at a motel in Tennessee on May 29, 2001. *Id.*

On August 25, 2001, a grand jury returned an indictment for Mr. Taylor on one count of first-degree premeditated murder for the murder of Sandra Kushmer, one count of attempted first-degree murder for the attempted murder of her brother, William Maddox, one count of robbery with a deadly weapon, one count of robbery with a firearm, and one count of armed burglary of a dwelling. R. Vol. I, 23-27. A sixth count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon was nolle prossed. R. Vol. XXX, 3201.

This case was tried before the Honorable Barbara Fleisher. The first attempt to pick a jury ended in a mistrial. R. Vol. VI, 968. The actual guilt phase trial took place from June 2, 2004 through June 9, 2004. The evidence presented at trial was summarized in *Taylor v. State*, 937 So. 2d 590. The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged on June 9, 2004. R. Vol. VIII, 1212; R. Vol. XXV, 2477. The penalty phase was conducted on June 11 and 14, 2004, ending with a 12-0 death

recommendation. R. Vol. VIII, 1285. The *Spencer*¹ hearing took place on August 16, 2004. R. Vol. XXX, 3159-83. The trial court imposed a death sentence on September 29, 2004. R. Vol. XXX, 3222. The written sentencing order and judgment and sentence are located at R. Vol. VII, 1314-26 and 1330-46.

The judgment and sentence were affirmed at *Taylor v. State*, 937 So. 2d 590, in an opinion dated June 29, 2006.

Mr. Taylor filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence on October 8, 2007. PC-R. Vol. II, 346-81. The circuit court subsequently granted counsel's Motion for Leave to Amend, which was filed on October 10, 2007. PC-R. Vol. II, 383-85; PC-R. Vol. XXVIII, 4077. Mr. Taylor filed an Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence on February 15, 2008, wherein he raised twelve claims. PC-R. Vol. III, 424-580. The State filed its Answer to Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence on March 17, 2008. PC-R. Vol. IV, 583-602. A case management conference was held on June 2, 2008. PC-R. Vol. XXX, 4095-4115. The circuit court entered an order on June 10, 2008 granting an evidentiary hearing on Claims I, II, III, IV, V, VI, and VIII. PC-R. Vol. IV, 622-44. Claims VII, IX, and X were summarily denied. *Id.* Claim XI (incompetency to be executed) was stipulated to be premature and Claim XII (cumulative error claim)

¹ *Spencer v. State*, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

was deferred. *Id.*

An evidentiary hearing was held on January 5-6, 2009. PC-R. Vol. XXXV, 4151-4277; PC-R. Vol. XXXV, 4278-4409; PC-R. Vol. XXXVIII, 4410-94. The hearing was continued on April 29, 2009. PC-R. Vol. XXXVIII, 4495-4683. Written closing arguments were filed by both parties. PC-R. Vol. V, 764-874. On November 19, 2009, the circuit court entered an order denying relief. PC-R. Vol. VI, 897-1097; PC-R. Vol. VII, 1098-1137. A notice of appeal was timely filed on December 17, 2009.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following witnesses testified at the evidentiary hearing that was held on January 5-6, 2009 and April 29, 2009. The details of their testimony will be discussed in more detail under the individual claims.

Joseph John Sesta, Ph.D.

Joseph John Sesta, Ph.D. is a forensic neuropsychologist and medical psychologist who is board certified in the specialty of neuropsychology and subspecialty certified in forensic neuropsychology. PC-R. Vol. XXXV, 4156. Dr. Sesta examines doctors who are seeking board certification, and he has published several articles. *Id.* at 4159. He has testified as an expert for the Court, Defense, and State 137 times in fourteen judicial circuits. *Id.* at 4159-60. Dr. Sesta was

accepted as an expert in the area of forensic neuropsychology. *Id.* at 4161.

John J. Skye and Debra Goins

Mr. Taylor was represented at trial by Assistant Public Defenders John J. Skye and Debra Goins. PC-R. Vol. XXXVI, 4282. Mr. Skye and Ms. Goins worked together as “coequals.” PC-R. Vol. XXXVIII, 4298. According to Mr. Skye, he and Ms. Goins had a collegial relationship. *Id.* at 4297. Ms. Goins was lead counsel for Mr. Taylor’s penalty phase, and she was primarily responsible for dealing with mental health experts in this case. *Id.* at 4429. Mr. Skye was lead counsel for the guilt phase. *Id.* at 4429. They conferred with regard to trial strategy, in order to ensure that the defense in the first phase was consistent with whatever defense they might need in the second phase. *Id.* at 4298.

Mr. Skye reviewed the appendix to Mr. Taylor’s amended 3.851 Motion, and he recognized some letters and memoranda that he wrote and letters that he received. *Id.* at 4285. His practice was to dictate a detailed memorandum each time he met with a client, and he was especially careful to annotate files in death penalty cases. *Id.* at 4397-98.

James R. Merikangas, M.D.

James R. Merikangas, M.D. is a medical doctor, who is board certified in neurology and psychiatry. PC-R. Vol. XXXVIII, 4502-03. Dr. Merikangas was

on the committee that made up the written examination given to neurologists and psychiatrists, and he is an examiner for the oral boards in psychiatry and neurology. *Id.* at 4504. He has published numerous articles, book chapters, and book reviews in his field. *Id.* at 4506. He has testified as an expert in over 200 civil and criminal cases in federal court and over twenty states. *Id.* at 4505; *Id.* at 4507. Dr. Merikangas was accepted as an expert in the area of forensic psychiatry. *Id.* at 4508.

Dr. Merikangas was retained by CCRC-Middle to render an opinion regarding Mr. Taylor's medical, neurological, and psychiatric diagnosis. PC-R. Vol. XXXVIII, 4511. He reviewed the documents contained in Defense Exhibit Three, and he relied on these documents to render an opinion in this case. *Id.* at 4509. He also read the evidentiary hearing testimony of Mr. Skye and Ms. Goins. *Id.* at 4509.

Dr. Merikangas met with Mr. Taylor at Union Correctional Institution in December 2007. PC-R. Vol. XXXVIII, 4511. He previously attempted to meet with Mr. Taylor in November 2007, but Mr. Taylor refused to see him. *Id.* at 4512. Dr. Merikangas conducted a psychiatric examination and a physical neurological examination of Mr. Taylor. *Id.* at 4512. When he saw Mr. Taylor, Mr. Taylor had been off medications for two years. *Id.* at 4512. There was motor

impersistence of the tongue, which is a sign of brain dysfunction. *Id.* at 4512. He had orthostatic hypertension, which means that his blood pressure dropped dramatically when he stood up. *Id.* at 4512. He had difficulty distinguishing between the smell of cloves and vanilla, which is significant because people with head injuries frequently lose their sense of smell. *Id.* at 4513. Mr. Taylor also provided a history of unilateral headaches three times per week. *Id.* at 4512. Headaches on one side of the head are generally a form of migraines, which is a neurological condition, associated with extreme irritability and impulse control disorders. *Id.* at 4513. He also obtained a family history from Mr. Taylor. *Id.* at 4514. Mr. Taylor was straightforward and open with Dr. Merikangas, and Dr. Merikangas did not get the impression that he was malingering. *Id.* at 4514.

Donald R. Taylor, Jr., M.D.

Donald R. Taylor, Jr. is a medical doctor, who is board certified in psychiatry and forensic psychiatry. PC-R. Vol. XXXVIII, 4630. He has testified as an expert in the area of forensic psychiatry between 150 and 200 times, including approximately ten death penalty cases. *Id.* at 4631. He testified in Mr. Taylor's penalty phase trial in 2004. *Id.* at 4631.

Dr. Taylor sometimes consults with other experts in his field. PC-R. Vol. XXXVIII, 4671. He did not, however, consult with Dr. Krop or Dr. McCraney

prior to trial. *Id.* at 4671. Likewise, he did not consult with Dr. Sesta or Dr. Merikangas prior to the evidentiary hearing. *Id.* at 4671.

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(1) Fla. Const.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is *de novo*. *Stephens v. State*, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1032 (Fla. 2000). Under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984), ineffective assistance of counsel claims are a mixed question of law and fact; with the lower court's legal rulings reviewed *de novo* and deference given to factual findings supported by competent and substantial evidence. *Sochor v. State*, 883 So. 2d 766, 772 (Fla. 2004).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Taylor's claim that counsel provided ineffective assistance by misadvising him about moving to discharge counsel. Mr. Taylor relied on this advice and did not move to discharge his counsel, which precluded any possibility of the judge discharging counsel and appointing outside counsel who would have provided effective representation.
2. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Taylor's claim that counsel provided prejudicial ineffective assistance for failing to investigate the effects of Mr.

Taylor's overmedication. Given the medications that Mr. Taylor was taking leading up to and during trial, there is a reasonable probability that Mr. Taylor was denied his constitutional right not to be tried while incompetent. Furthermore, if counsel adequately investigated the effects of their client's overmedication, they would not have terminated plea negotiations when they did.

3. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Taylor's claim that counsel provided prejudicial ineffective assistance by cutting off plea negotiations. There is a reasonable probability that if defense counsel did not terminate plea negotiations when they did the State would have offered and Mr. Taylor would have accepted a plea to life in avoidance.

4. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Taylor's claim that counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to employ the aid of a mental health expert in plea discussions with the defendant. Such an expert could have helped counsel understand why he was reacting as he was and the effects of the medications he was taking, assisted counsel in speaking with him about plea negotiations, and determined whether he was competent to enter a plea or stand trial. There is a reasonable probability that if counsel had employed a mental health expert in this way, the State would have offered a plea to life in avoidance, and Mr. Taylor would have accepted such an offer.

5. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Taylor's claim that counsel provided prejudicial ineffective assistance by failing to investigate and present evidence regarding the link between his low levels of serotonin and his violent behavior. This evidence would have helped establish the two statutory mental health mitigating circumstances. There is a reasonable probability that if this evidence had been presented at trial, Mr. Taylor would have received a life sentence.

6. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Taylor's claim that counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to advise the court about his recent history of seizures and medications. As a result of counsel's deficient performance, the trial court was under the mistaken impression that Mr. Taylor was no longer experiencing the effects of or being treated for a seizure disorder. Furthermore, Mr. Taylor's history of seizures could have served as additional credible evidence of brain damage.

7. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Taylor's claim that counsel provided prejudicial ineffective assistance when they failed to call Dr. Sesta as a witness during penalty phase. Dr. Sesta's testimony, including the results of neuropsychological testing, would have provided credible scientific evidence that Mr. Taylor suffers from brain impairment, and it would have established the two statutory mitigating circumstances. A strategic decision not to call Dr. Sesta would

have been unreasonable.

8. The circuit court erred when it denied Mr. Taylor's claim that cumulative error deprived him of the fundamentally fair trial guaranteed under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments and rendered his convictions and sentence of death unreliable.

ARGUMENT I
THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED MR. TAYLOR'S CLAIM THAT COUNSEL PROVIDED PREJUDICIAL INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE BY MISADVISING HIM ABOUT MOVING TO DISCHARGE HIS COURT APPOINTED COUNSEL.

Mr. Taylor alleged in Claim I of the motion for postconviction relief that trial counsel provided prejudicial ineffective assistance by misadvising him about moving to discharge his court appointed counsel. PC-R. Vol. III, 442-45. The circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing on this claim, and found that Mr. Taylor failed to meet either prong of the *Strickland* test. PC-R. Vol. VI, 901. Mr. Taylor seeks review of this finding.

The right of an indigent defendant to counsel is guaranteed under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. This includes the right to effective representation by such counsel. *Nelson v. State*, 274 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 4th D.C.A. 1973). When, before the commencement of trial, a defendant expresses his desire to the trial judge to discharge his court appointed counsel, the trial judge is

required to make an inquiry of the defendant concerning the reason he seeks to have his attorney discharged. *Id.* If the defendant alleges that counsel has provided incompetent assistance, “the trial judge should make a sufficient inquiry of the defendant and his appointed counsel to determine whether or not there is reasonable cause to believe that the court appointed counsel is not rendering effective assistance to the defendant.” *Id.* At 259. If the judge finds reasonable cause to believe that appointed counsel has rendered ineffective assistance, the court should make such a finding on the record and appoint substitute counsel. *Id.*

Mr. Skye testified that Mr. Taylor wrote a number of angry letters to Mr. Skye, Ms. Goins, and Ms. Holt in which he seemed unhappy and expressed discontent with his situation. PC-R. Vol. XXXVI, 4301-02; *Id.* at 4308. Mr. Taylor claimed that there was a “conflict of interest” between himself and his attorneys, but he did not explain what the conflict was. *Id.* at 4301; *Id.* at 4388. Mr. Taylor also filed a complaint with the Florida Bar, which he later withdrew, and he threatened to file complaints with the Judicial Qualifications Committee or the Florida Committee on Human Relations. *Id.* at 4304; *Id.* at 4315.

In response to the several attempts by Mr. Taylor to prompt trial counsel to withdraw from his case, Mr. Skye provided misleading advice to Mr. Taylor regarding motions to withdraw. The legal standard the attorneys followed in

deciding whether or not to file a motion to withdraw was articulated by Mr. Skye in a letter to Mr. Taylor dated December 5, 2002, in which he stated, “[A] client’s unhappiness or dissatisfaction with the performance of the Public Defender’s Office (and the individual Assistant Public Defender assigned) is also not a basis for disqualifying the Public Defender’s Office and appointing private (conflict) counsel unless the client/defendant is able to allege and prove that the Assistant Public Defender assigned to his case has rendered incompetent or ineffective assistance of counsel.” PC-R. Vol. VII, 1196. This standard placed the burden of going forward on the defendant, and articulated the standard that the attorneys would never move to withdraw in a personal conflict situation.

Mr. Skye went on in his December 5, 2002 letter to Mr. Taylor to say, “If a client/defendant does not allege and prove ineffective or incompetent representation on the part of the Public Defender’s Office, the Court is under no obligation to discharge the Public Defender’s Office and appoint private counsel, and a client/defendant’s only option is self-representation.” PC-R. Vol. VII, 1196. The circuit court found that “Mr. Skye’s failure to state in his letter to Defendant ‘Or, you could choose to keep your original counsel,’ does not rise to the level of deficient performance.” PC-R. Vol. VI, 901. However, Mr. Skye did provide deficient performance in that the advice he provided to Mr. Taylor in his December

5, 2002 letter is misleading. If the trial court refuses to discharge court appointed counsel, the defendant could choose to keep his court appointed counsel. Under *Nelson*, the court may, in its discretion, discharge court appointed counsel and require the defendant to proceed to trial without representation by court appointed counsel only if the defendant continues to demand that his counsel be dismissed. *Nelson*, 274 So. 2d at 259. Furthermore, Mr. Skye assured Mr. Taylor that any such claim would not prevail. PC-R. Vol. VII, 1196. The only logical conclusion that a defendant could draw from such advice was that if he asked to have counsel discharged, the Court would deny such a request and he would be forced to represent himself. There was never a *Nelson* hearing in this case, and the Public Defender's Office did not file a motion to withdraw. PC-R. Vol. XXXVI, 4303-04. Relying exclusively on Mr. Skye's assertions, Mr. Taylor did not bring his claims to the attention of the trial court, despite his strong initial desire to do so, thereby prejudicing Mr. Taylor and precluding any possibility of the judge discharging counsel and appointing outside counsel who would have provided effective representation.

The courts have held that counsel can provide ineffective assistance by misadvising a defendant. See *Rodriguez v. State*, 932 So. 2d 1287 (Fla. 2d D.C.A. 2006); *Williams v. State*, 2007 W.L. 486397 (Fla. 2d D.C.A. 2007). In the case at

hand, trial counsel provided ineffective assistance when they misadvised Mr. Taylor about the procedure for asking the court to discharge his attorneys. Mr. Skye actively discouraged Mr. Taylor from bringing his concerns about trial counsel to the attention of the court. In doing so, trial counsel invaded the province of the trial court and prevented judicial oversight.

ARGUMENT II
THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED MR. TAYLOR’S CLAIM THAT COUNSEL PROVIDED PREJUDICIAL INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE BY FAILING TO INVESTIGATE THE EFFECTS OF OVERMEDICATION.

Mr. Taylor alleged in Claim II of his motion for postconviction relief that trial counsel provided prejudicial ineffective assistance by failing to investigate the effects of overmedication. PC-R. Vol. III, 445-52. The circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing on this claim. The circuit court found that it was possible that during the time Mr. Taylor was incarcerated in the Hillsborough County Jail awaiting trial, “he may have been over- or under-medicated.” PC-R. Vol. VI, 904. However, the circuit court noted that despite the testimony of Dr. Merikangas regarding Mr. Taylor’s demeanor and medications, neither Mr. Taylor’s attorneys nor Dr. Sesta, nor the jail doctors who treated Mr. Taylor expressed concerns that Mr. Taylor was overmedicated. *Id.* at 905. Further, the circuit court found that Mr. Taylor failed to demonstrate prejudice. *Id.* Mr. Taylor seeks review of these

findings.

Overmedication of prisoners is an ongoing problem. Comprehensive Textbook of Psychiatry 1995 (Harold I. Kaplan & Benjamin J. Sadock eds., 4th ed. 1985) (“Observers of the prison system in the United States have been particularly critical of the haphazard ways in which psychopharmacological agents are dispensed.”). The ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Defense Counsel in Death Penalty Cases, in recognizing this problem, states that “actions by prison authorities (e.g., solitary confinement, administration of psychotropic medications) may impede the ability to present the client as a witness at a hearing or have legal implications, and changes in the client’s mental state . . . may bear upon his capacity to assist his counsel.” Guidelines at Guideline 10.5 Commentary. Mr. Taylor was overmedicated at precisely the times he was confronted with key decisions concerning his case, such as whether to accept a plea to life in avoidance, whether or not to testify in his own defense, and whether to waive a jury in one or both phases of trial.

Referring to Defense Exhibit Eight, entitled “William Taylor Medications Timeline,” Dr. Merikangas discussed the medications Mr. Taylor was taking leading up to and during trial, including Dilantin, Paxil, Sinequan, Vistaril, Prozac, Lithium, Depakote, and Tegretol. PC-R. Vol. XXI, 3975-82. While he was

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