### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM K. TAYLOR,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC09-2417
Lower Tribunal No. 01-CF-00-8692A

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0503843
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Although Dr. Sesta testified that Taylor was supposed to be taking Dilantin prior to the crime, and that Taylor had indicated that he had a seizure about a month or so before the crime, these vague assertions of Taylor's self-reporting did not provide any basis to believe that there had been a seizure; even Dr. Sesta did not appear to accept this history, but testified that the lack of any seizure or seizure medications from the time Dr. Greer terminated treatment in 1991 to the May, 2000

crime did not mean that Taylor had not suffered epilepsy at some point in his life, and still may have it (V35/4242). Taylor's self-report to Sesta is inconsistent with what he told Dr. Taylor at the time of trial (V38/4675). To the extent Taylor's postconviction experts suggested that it was possible Taylor had seizures that had not been observed or documented, they did not provide anything beyond what Taylor's trial experts had related to his sentencing jury at the penalty phase.

As Dr. Sesta did not find Taylor's report to be credible, there was no deficient performance in failing to present testimony that Taylor claimed to have had a seizure and been prescribed Dilantin prior to the crime. In addition, there was no testimony presented to demonstrate how Taylor's trial attorneys would even know about his statements. Taylor did not testify, and there is no indication that he, or anyone else, ever related this information to counsel or to anyone else at the time of trial.

The record clearly reflects that Taylor's mental state was thoroughly explored in the penalty phase, and Taylor has not created any doubt as to the accuracy of the testimony that was presented on the issue. Taylor's medical history, including a prior fall from a ladder and prior diagnoses of epilepsy and seizure disorder, was fully investigated and presented as

purported mitigation. The problem for the defense was the undisputed testimony that in 1991, nearly a decade before the crime, Dr. Greer had obtained an EEG that showed no abnormality, and that Greer suspended Taylor's treatment for seizures without any new seizures occurring (V37/4473; V38/4675). Merikangas testified that he did not believe the 1991 EEG to be significant, the EEG clearly fails to affirmatively support any claim of deficit or impairment. Taylor's history from 1991 to 2001 made it difficult for the trial attorneys to convince any Taylor's reasonable fact-finder that medical history had anything to do with Sandra Kushmer's murder, greatly reducing the probative value of any such mitigation.

Taylor's reliance on the order entered by a federal magistrate on June 8, 2001, following Taylor's arrest for these charges and directing that Taylor be prescribed Dilantin and not a generic equivalent, is misplaced. This order, which was known to the defense and in the defense file (V36/4291), does not establish that Taylor was suffering seizures prior to the crime. As the trial court was aware that Taylor was on Dilantin and other anticonvulsants after Taylor was in custody on these charges (DA. V27/2822-24; V28/2915), the federal order adds nothing of significance, and does not support a finding that

Taylor's attorneys were deficient in their penalty phase presentation.

Once again the egregious facts and aggravated nature of this crime demonstrates that death is the appropriate sentence, and there is no reasonable probability of a different outcome had Taylor's attorneys performed any differently in this regard. Both Skye and Goins acknowledged at the evidentiary hearing that the State had a strong case for a death sentence (V36/4339; V37/4433-36, 4451, 4479). Taylor failed to establish any deficient performance or prejudice, and this Court must affirm the denial of postconviction relief on this issue.

## ISSUE VII

### IAC - DR. SESTA AS PENALTY PHASE WITNESS

Taylor's last claim of ineffective assistance of counsel challenges counsels' decision against presenting Dr. Sesta as a witness at the penalty phase of Taylor's trial. As this claim was denied following an evidentiary hearing, the trial court's factual findings are reviewed with deference and the legal conclusions are considered de novo. Stephens, 748 So. 2d at 1033. Once again an examination of the facts regarding this claim supports the trial court's finding that no deficient performance or prejudice was established.

denying relief on this issue, the court specifically found that the failure to present Dr. Sesta as a penalty phase witness was the result of a reasonable strategic decision by counsel (V6/922). This finding is fully supported by the record, as both John Skye and Debra Goins testified that Taylor had been evaluated by competent mental health professionals, and that a strategic decision was made to use Dr. Krop and Dr. McCraney for the mental mitigation (V36/4299-4300, 4398-4407; V37/4416-19, 4431, 4443-44, 4455, 4465-72, 4475-78). Dr. Krop testified at the penalty phase that the statutory mental mitigating factors of extreme disturbance and substantial impairment should both be applied in this case (DA. V27/282930), but ultimately the court chose to weigh the mental health evidence as nonstatutory mitigation (DA. V8/1315-20).

John Skye and Deb Goins are experienced capital defense attorneys who work together at the public defender's office (V36/4280-83, 4297-98, 4353-54; V37/4446-49). They worked on Taylor's case as a team, with Skye primarily responsible for the guilt phase, and Goins responsible for the penalty phase, as that was where they were most experienced (V36/4297; V37/4449). They conferred on all aspects of trial strategy and wanted the penalty phase defense to be consistent with the guilt phase evidence (V36/4298). As lead penalty phase counsel, Goins was the one responsible for handling the mental health experts (V36/4298, 4321-22, 4401-02; V37/4449).

Both Skye and Goins testified to the reasoning behind the defense strategy. Skye recalled that Sesta had been retained and rendered a report before Skye had been assigned to the case (V36/4298-99). Skye was familiar with Dr. Sesta, and felt that Sesta had good credentials and was well-intentioned, but did not always make a good witness (V36/4299). Skye believed that Sesta becomes too much of an advocate, losing his appearance as a disinterested witness (V36/4299). Skye would have used Sesta if he had no other options, but in this case they had other helpful experts, including Dr. McCraney, who Skye considered to be a

good witness in ways which Dr. Sesta was not (V36/4401). Skye had worked with Dr. Krop and Dr. McCraney, knew that he would be satisfied with their credentials and preparation, and preferred to use them in this case (V36/4299, 4400-01). Skye and Goins discussed it several times; as Skye recalled, Goins was reluctant to use Sesta because his testimony would be somewhat at odds with the other experts and the inconsistency would not be helpful (V36/4401-02). Ultimately, there was a mutual decision to use Krop and McCraney, and to keep Sesta in abeyance (V36/4299-4300).

Deb Goins also related her concerns about presenting Dr. Sesta as a witness. She recalled that she had retained Sesta to conduct neurological testing, but Sesta also administered personality testing she had not requested and his primary diagnosis was that Taylor suffered from antisocial personality disorder (V37/4466-67). That diagnosis was not helpful to the defense and she did not want it brought out (V37/4468-72). She knew Dr. Krop would acknowledge that Taylor had features of the disorder, but Sesta was more concrete about the diagnosis and she did not want this to be the primary diagnosis provided to the jury (V37/4470-72). While she did not recall Skye's concern of some inconsistency between the experts, she testified that she used the experts that were best for the whole overall

picture, which was not Sesta (V37/4475). She had been using Dr. Krop for many years, knew him to be very experienced, and just as qualified as Dr. Sesta to conduct neuropsychological testing (V37/4478).

Taylor does not dispute that there was strategy involved, but he characterizes the strategy as unreasonable and therefore deficient. Taylor claims that, had Sesta been offered as a witness, Sesta would have testified that both statutory mental mitigating factors applied, leading the jury to recommend and the judge to impose a life sentence. This argument is without merit because Dr. Krop testified at the penalty phase that both statutory mental mitigators applied, but that testimony was rejected and the trial court found only nonstatutory mental mitigation. Although Dr. Sesta believed that he could have been a better witness, his personal opinion as to his own superiority provides no basis for a finding of deficient performance.

Taylor takes issue with the reasons that were provided by counsel below and also asserts that this Court should only consider Ms. Goins's comments, claiming that she did not express the same concerns Skye offered and that the decision had been Goins's to make, so Skye's opinion is not relevant. However, the testimony below established that Skye and Goins worked as a team, and although Goins focused more on the penalty and Skye on

the guilt, they conferred extensively on many aspects of trial strategy (V36/4297-98). The issue of whether or not to present Dr. Sesta as part of the mitigation case was discussed several times, and it was a mutual decision to go with McCraney and Krop and hold Sesta in abeyance (V36/4299-4300, 4400-02). Both attorneys were familiar with the mental health experts and had prior experience with using the experts as witnesses (V36/4299, 4398-4403; V37/4464-65, 4476).

The fact that Taylor's attorneys were able to articulate specific reasons for not presenting Dr. Sesta is one of the major distinctions between this case and Taylor's primary case, State v. Duncan, 894 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 2005). Although Taylor relies heavily on Duncan, it does not demonstrate any error in the court's ruling below. Although Duncan's trial counsel testified that he had a reason for not presenting Dr. Berland as an expert, he could not provide the reason and no one else involved could suggest a reason. Significantly, there was no testimony presented at Duncan's penalty phase to establish the existence of the two statutory mental mitigating factors, although counsel knew Dr. Berland could have testified to this mitigation based on Berland's pretrial evaluation. It does not appear from this Court's opinion that any mental testimony was offered at Duncan's penalty phase, quite the opposite of Taylor's penalty phase, where two defense mental health experts were presented and testimony that both statutory mental mitigating factors applied was offered.

The law is well settled that, when reasonable strategic decisions are made as in this case, counsel cannot be deemed to have been ineffective. Sexton v. State, 997 So. 2d 1073, 1085 1985) (denying ineffective assistance claim based (Fla. presentation of mental mitigation); Darling v. State, 966 So. 2d 366, 377-78 (Fla. 2007) (noting attorneys are entitled to rely on trial experts); Burns v. State, 944 So. 2d 234, 243-44 (Fla. 2006) (upholding reasonableness of decision against presenting mental mitigation); Looney v. State, 941 So. 2d 1017, 1029 (Fla. 2006) (same). Counsel in this case investigated potential mitigation through three mental health experts, and made a strategic decision as to the best witnesses to present. reasonable decision refutes informed. any allegation of deficient performance with regard to the failure to present Dr. Sesta as a mitigation witness.

Moreover, the record in this case demonstrates that no reasonable probability of a different result would have occurred had Dr. Sesta testified. Defense counsel presented mental mitigation through the testimony of two expert witnesses, Dr. Krop and Dr. McCraney, and Dr. Sesta offers no persuasive

mitigation above and beyond that presented by Krop and McCraney. Dr. Sesta testified at the evidentiary hearing that he reviewed the penalty phase testimony and felt he had better credentials than Dr. Krop, but Krop is a very experienced psychologist, having testified over a thousand times at the time of Taylor's trial, and is also well qualified to perform neuropsychological testing (DA. V27/2773-79). Sesta also felt that he could have added more to the penalty phase presentation by discussing the neurological data more in-depth, and explaining the different methods of inference in neuropsychology (V35/4165-66). However, the problem in this case wasn't that the fact-finder did not know enough about neurology, but that Taylor's medical condition had little to do with why this crime occurred, and Taylor's neurological deficits do not reduce his moral culpability for the acts committed on Sandra Kushmer and Bill Maddox.

In addition, for the reasons noted by John Skye, Dr. Sesta is not a credible witness. Dr. Sesta and Dr. Merikangas both damaged their credibility at the evidentiary hearing by repeatedly characterizing this crime as an impulsive act (V35/4209-11, 4220-25, 4268-70; V38/4601, 4604-09, 4628-29). Sesta spoke to Taylor about the facts of the case in February, 2008, and Taylor indicated that he "snapped" after he was drinking at the victims' house and Sandra hit him spontaneously

(V35/4209-11). Based on this scenario, Sesta concluded that both statutory mental mitigating factors applied to this crime (V35/4211-12). Although Sesta testified that the facts were very important to his opinion and that he relied on Taylor's account of the crime, Sesta's opinion did not change when he was confronted with the extensive trial evidence demonstrating that the facts were much more egregious; this was a well planned Sandra murdered after and was reflection deliberation, being shot in the face at close range by a shotgun while on the ground, leaning up against the house. The surviving victim, Bill Maddox, was brutally attacked and beaten while he slept. Sesta's refusal to change his opinion when the facts were substantially different than Taylor's version of events, in Skye's opinion, reduced his credibility and turned into an advocate than a disinterested witness (V36/4403-07). As Skye noted, this would not work well in front of the jury, and Sesta's penalty phase testimony would have contributed little, if anything at all, to the defense case for mitigation.

Dr. Sesta's testimony at the evidentiary hearing demonstrated the reasonableness of counsels' strategic decision against using him as a witness. Because Sesta's potential testimony did not provide any additional mitigation, any

deficient performance that could be ascribed to the decision not to use Sesta as a witness could not result in any prejudice. Taylor has again failed to establish any deficient performance or prejudice in his trial attorneys' decision with regard to Dr. Sesta, and this Court must affirm the denial of relief on this claim.

## ISSUE VIII

### CUMULATIVE ERROR

Taylor next claims cumulative error rendered his trial and sentencing fundamentally unfair. This is a purely legal claim, based on the written record and pleadings, so review is *de novo*.

Walton v. State, 3 So. 3d 1000, 1005 (Fla. 2009); State v.

Coney, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003).

It should be noted that Taylor's reliance on an unspecified "number and type of errors" is overbroad (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 98). This Court has held that claims which are procedurally barred or were rejected on direct appeal cannot be considered in a postconviction claim of cumulative error.

Rogers v. State, 957 So. 2d 538, 553-54 (Fla. 2007); see also Hannon v. State, 941 So. 2d 1109, 1148 (Fla. 2006) (cumulative error analysis does not encompass claims which are procedurally barred or without substantive merit); Philmore v. State, 937 So. 2d 578, 590 (Fla. 2006); Evans v. State, 946 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2006).

Taylor's allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel were refuted at the evidentiary hearing. As Taylor has not demonstrated any error in his trial or sentencing proceedings, he is not entitled to any relief based on cumulative error.

## ISSUE IX

### INCOMPETENCE AT TIME OF EXECUTION

Taylor's last issue speculates that he may be incompetent at the time of his execution. This is a purely legal claim to be reviewed *de novo*. <u>Walton</u>, 3 So. 3d at 1005; <u>Coney</u>, 845 So. 2d at 137.

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